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- Plaintiffs, by and throﬁgh their éttome_ys, bring this Complaint and allegé on personal |
kﬁowledg’e as to themselves and their oWn activities, and on information and belief as to all othér ‘
métters, based on investigation and discovery conducted by qounsel,' including but not limited to: (2)
éeview and analysis of public 'ﬁlings made by. Apple Computer, Inc. (“Apple” or the “Company”j,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”); (b) rew}iew and analysis of press
releases and other publlcatlons disseminated by defendants; and (c) other pubhcly avallable
1nformat10n about Apple ' -

NATURE AND SUI\/IMARY OF THE ACTION

1. This is a class action complaint brought on behalf of purchasers of Apple securities
and/or who sold put options on Apple shares (the “Class™), between December 1, 2005 and August
11, 20b6, iﬁclﬁsive_ (the “Class Period”) against Apple and the Individual Defendants, ﬁs described
infra, Who were members of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and/of executive

officers of the Apple and signed its Form 10-K for its fiscal 2005 year ended September 24, 2005

(the “2005 Form 10-K”’), and/or authorized the issuance of its Proxy Statement on or about March -

13,2006, for the Company’s annual meeting held on April 27, 2006 (the “2006 Proxy Statement”).

2. Stock options give employees of a publically traded company the right to purchase
company stock at a fixed price in the future. The general policy behind a grant of stock options is to

link employees’ compensation to the value of the company’s shares and, therefore, to the wealth of

the company’s shareholders. Typically, the options’ fixed price is aligned with the price of the stock

on the day of the grant. If the stock price rises from the fixed grant price the employee _proﬁt__s by

exercising the options and selling the shares. In contrast, backdated stock options allow the

' employeesldf a publically traded company, such as Apple, to maximize their wealth at the cxpense

of the company and its shareholders.
3. As further alleged below, defendants improperly backdated (and/or had knowledge
and approved of, or acquiésced in, such 'backdating) stock option grant.s to certain Scnior Apple

executives so that the options appeared to granted on dates when the market price of Applé stock

was lower than the market price on the actual grant date, and then concealed this practice from the

investing public during the Class-Pcriod. This improper backdating resulted in option grants with
. _
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lower exercise prices which 1mproperly increased the value of the options to the remplents and

1mproper1y reduced the amounts the recrpients of these option had to pay the Company upon ‘

exercise of the options, unfairly transfemng shareholder equity to defendants while diluting the

value of the shares owned by the Class. Defendants’ conduct also violated the Company’s: (i)
sh'areholder—approved stock optio'n plans; (ii) corporate governance guidelines; (iii) standards of
business conduct and (iv) conflicts of mterest poliey | |

4.  Moreover, dunng the Class Period defendants caused Apple to file matenally false
a_ndrnisleading statements w1th the SEC, including but not Limited to Apple’s 2005 Form'10-K and
its 200_6. Proxy Statement, which stated that options issued to employecs and/or executives of the
Company were granted at the fair market value as of the date of grant. , In reality, because of .
defendants’ scheme of backdating options recipients received stock options priced lower then the
“fair market value” of the stock on actual date of the grant _ | |

5. Infact, defendants were aware that the practices employed by the Board ﬁ‘equently
allowed the stock option grants to be backdated to aprice when the Company s shares were at the -
near low trading price of the relevant penod Indeed, as of 2001, defendants backdating scheme
had yielded stock option grants to the Company’s executlve_ofﬁcers worth millions of dollars.

6. On June 29, 2006, Apple announced that an internal investigation discovered

‘irregularities related to stock option grants from 1997 to 2001, iricluding a problematic grant to CEO.

Steven P. J obs (“Jobs™). This particular problematic grant was later cancelled. .
7. - | _On August 4, 2006, Apple shares declined 4.02%, from a close of $67.‘8.1 on August_
3 to close at $64.96 on August 4, on news thatA_pple would “likely need” to restate earnings and
would delay ﬁling its quarterly report because of ad_ditional irregularities related to its accounting
for stock options granted to its executives and that its financial results issued since September 29', .
2002 could not be relied upon, - o | |
8. On August ll, 2006, Apple announced that its mishandling of its ernployee stock
optlons would’ reqmre signiﬁcant” revisions to its most recent quarterly (ending July 1, 006) results

compared to the prevrous June 25, 2005. On this news the Company’s shares continued to drop to

3,
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|| suffered damages thereby.

close at $63.65 on August 11, 2006 The drop on August 11 2006 was a6.1% drop from the pnce
Apple stock closed at on August 3, 2006. |
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
' 9_. Junsdlctlon is conferred by Section 27 of the Secunt1es Exchange Act of 1934 (the

“Exchange Act”) [15U.S.C. § 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337. The claims asserted herein arise

under and pursuant to Sections 10(b}, 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U S.C. §§ 78n(a), -

-78_] (b) and 78t(a)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC”), 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.
10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15

U.s. C. § 78aaand 28 U. S.C. § 1391(b) and (¢). Venue is proper in this District because the
: Company has its headquarters in this district and many of the acts and practrces complamed of s

“herein occurred in substantial part in this Dlstrrct.

1. In connection'With‘ the acts, transactions and conduct alleged herei.n, defendants used
the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the United States mails, interstate
telephone communlcations and the facilities of the national securities exchanges and markets.

o PARTIES | o o

12. Plaintiff _ purchased shares of Apple and engaged in transactions of
Apple secuntles during fhe Class Period, as set forth m the certification attached hereto and
suffered damages thereby. |

13.  Plaintiff _purchased shares of Apple and engaged in transactions of

Apple securities durmg the Class Period, as set forth in the certification attached hereto, and

~

14. . Defendant Jobs has served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and a

director since 2000. He also served as interim CEO from 1997 until 2000.

a In light of defendant Jobs’ pOSitions, access to internal corporate documents,
conversations and connections with other corporate officers and employees, attendance at |
management and Board meetings and committees thereof, and via reports-and other information
provided to him in connection therewith, he knew or should have known that Apple-eicecutives,

o )
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including himself and certain other defendantsnamed'h_erein, were receiving lmproperly backdated
‘stock'optic'm grants which maximized their personal-proﬁts at the expense of Apple shareholders, -
and that the defendants concealed this practlce in publlc ﬁlmgs during the Class Period.

b Moreover, Jobs received at least 20,000, 000 optlons whlch were susplcrously
dated at or very close to the lowest stock price for the month of the purported grant date and/or
immediately before significant share pri_ce increases. On inforrnation_ and belief, plaintiffs allege
that defendants backdated these stock options so that defendants T obs would receive illegal N
compensation from Apple that was not drsclosed to the Company s shareholders.

¢, - Inaddition, on or about March 19, 2006, defendant Jobs sold 4,573, 553
shares of his personally held Apple stock for 'proceeds of $295,725,936.68. At the time of this sale -
defendant Jobs was in possession of material, non-public information o0ncernjng the illegally -
undrsclosed backdatrng stock option grant practices, | : |

4 , Defendant Jobs signed the 2005 Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December
l 2001, attached his Certlﬁcatlon (as defined infra) attestmg to its accuracy, and solicited
shareholders through the 2006 Proxy Statement.

15 Defendant Peter Oppenhermer (“Oppenhermer )is Apple s Senior Vice Pres1dent
and Chief Flnancml Officer (“CFO”) Oppenherrner was Apple’s Controller for the Americas in
1996. In 1997 defendant Oppenhermer was promoted to Vrce Presrdent and Worldw1de Sales
Controller and then to Corporate Controller. _ _

a. In l1ght of defendant Oppenheimer’s positions, access to internal corporate
documents, conversation'sr anid connections with other corporate officers and :employees, attendance
at management meetings and committees thereof, and via reports and other info'rmation provided to
him in connection therewith, he knew or should have known that Apple 'execntiveé, including -
himself and certain other defendants named herein; ‘were're‘ce_iving improperly backdated stock
option grants which maximized their personal proﬁts at the expense of Apple shareholders, and that

the defendants concealed this practice in public filings dunng the Class Period.

5
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b. Moreover, during the Class Per-iod', while in possession of material, non-
public information concerning the undisclosed b'ackdating stock option grant practices, defendant
Oppenheimer sold 407,500 of his personally held shares for $29,871,125 in proeeeds Specifically:

| i. OnlJ anuary 3, 2006, Oppenheimer exerclsed his optlon to buy
200,000 Apple shares for a reduced price of $2,762,500 and, on that same day, sold said 200 000
Apple shares at the artlfi01ally inflated market price(s) for proceeds of $1-4,5_35,000,
| ii, - OnJanuary 4, 2006, Oppenheir_ner ex_eréised his option to buy:
(1) 70,210 Appleshares fora reduced price of $969,775 and, on that
same day, sold said 70,210 Apple shares at the artificially inflated
_marke_t price(s) for proceeds of $5,284,000; | . '
(2) 47,690 Apple shares for a reduced price of $658,718 and, on that
© same day,‘sold'said 47,690 Apple_ .shares at the artificially inflated
market price(s) for proceeds of $3,577,000; |
(3) 25,700 Apple shares for a reduced price of $354 981 and on that same
| day sold said 25,7 OO Apple shares at the artlﬁcrally mﬂated market
price(s) for proceeds of $1,921 000 _
)] | 38,900 Apple shares for a reduced price for proceeds of approximately
$466;800 and on that same day sold said 38;900 Apple shares at the -
L artificially inflated market price(s) for proc_eeds of $2,922,000;
i, On or about February 14 2006, Oppenhelrner sold 25,000 shares of
Apple for proceeds of $1,632, 125

c. Defendant Oppenheimer signed the 2005 Form 10-K and attached h1s
Certification (as defined infra) attestmg to its accuracy .-

16. Defendant Fred D. Anderson (“Anderson’ ) isa dlrector of Apple and has been since
2004 Anderson was Apple’s Executive Vice President and CFO from April 1996 to June 2004.

a. In light of defendant Anderson’s positions, access to 1nterna1 corporate
documents, conversations and connections with other corporate officers and employees, attendance
at management meetings and committees thereof and via reports and other 1nformat10n provided to

6
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him in connection therewith, he knew or should have known that Apple executives, including

'himself and other defendants named herein, were receiving improperly backdated stock option

grants which maximized their personal profits at the expense of Apple shareholders, and that the |
defendants concealed this practice in pubhc filings during the Class Period. _

_‘b. . On October 24, 2005, just prior to the Class Period herein, while i 1n _
possessi_on of material, non-public information concerning the Und.tsc__losed backdatmg stock option

grant practices, defendant Anderson exercised an option to purchase 20,000 shares of Apple stock

for the sum of $298,100 and on the same day sold, sa1d 20,000 shares of Apple stock for proceeds

of $1 126,928. 7 | _
-¢. - Defendant Anderson Defendant signed the 2005 Form 10-K and solicited

shareholders through the 2006 Proxy Statement.

17.  Defendant Arthur D. Levinson {(“Levinson™) is a director of Apple and has been slnce‘
2000. During the Fis_cal Year 2005, which ran from September 25,2004 to Septeml)er 24, 2005;
and during the Fiscal Year 2006, Wlﬁch runs from September 25, 2005 to September 24, 2006;
defendant Levinson was and is a member of both the Audit Committee and the Corpo'rate
Governance Committee of the Company. | |

a In light of defendant Levinson’s position as a director and member of said

|| committees, access to internal corporate documents, conversations and connections with other

corporate officers and employees, attendance at Board meetmgs and committees thereof, and via
reports and other information prov1ded to him in connectlon therew1th he knew or should have

known that Apple executives, 1nclud1ng defendants named herein, were_recewmg improperly

]| backdated stock option grants which maxmnzed their personal profits at the expense of Apple

shareholders, and that the defendants concealed this practice in pubhc ﬁhngs du;nng the Class

Period. . _ .
b.  During the Class Period, while in poése’ssion of material, non-public

information concerning the undisclosed backdating stock option grant practices, defendant Levinson'

' sold 7,385 shares of Apple and 70,000 shares of Anple_ for $4,855,883.60 in proceeds.

7
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¢. . Defendant Levinson s1gned the 2005 F orm 10-K and sol101ted shareholders
through the 2006 Proxy Statement. o | |
18. Defendant Jerome B. York (“York”) is a drrector of Apple and has been since 1997.

a. In light of defendant York’s pos1t10n asa dlrector, access to internal corporate

documents, conversations and connections with other corporate officers and employees, attendance

{| at Board meetings and committees thereof, and via reports and other information provided to him in

connection 'therewith,-he knew or should have known that Apple executives, including defendants
named herein, were receiving improperly b'ackdated stock option grants which.maxir’nized their
personal proﬁts at the expense of Apple shareholders and that the defendants concealed this
practrce in public ﬁhngs dunng the Class Period. | |
b. During tunes relevant hereln while in possession of material, non-public
information concerning the undisclosed baekdatmg stock optlon grant practices, defendant York
sold 90, 000 of Apple shares for $4,282,429.82 in proceeds
c. Defendant York signed the 2005 Form 10-K and solicited shareholders
through the 2006 Proxy Statement '
19. Defendant Albert A. Gore, Jr. (“Gore”) is a director of Apple and has been since
2003. During the Fiscal Year 2005, whmh ran from September 25 2004 to September 24, 2005
and durmg the Frscal Year 2006, which runs from September 25, 2005 to September 24, 2006
defendant Gore was a member of both the Compensation Cornrmttee and the Corporate Governance
Comm1ttee of the Company. |
| a. In light of defendant Gore’s posltion-'as a director and rrrernber of said
committees, access to internal corporate documents, conversations and connections with other
corpOrate ofﬁcers and employees attendance at Board meetings and committees thereof, and via
reports and other information provrded to him in connection therewith, he knew or should have

known that Apple executlves including defendants named herem, were receiving 1mproperly

- backdated: stock optron grants which maximized their personal profits at the expense of Apple

"shareholders,.a'nd that the defendants concealed this practice in public filings during-the Class

Period.
8
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' b. Defendant Gore srgned the 2005 Form 10-K and sohclted shareholders

through the 2006 Proxy Statement. | '

20. Defendant William V. Campbell (“Campbell”) isa d1rector of Apple and has been
s1nce 1997. During the Fiscal Year 2005, which ran from September 25 2004 to September 24,
2005, and during the Flscal Year 2006, which runs from September 25, 2005 to September 24,
2006, defendant Campbell was a member of both the Compensanon Comm1ttee and the Audit
Committee of the Company. B |

a. In light of defendant Campbell’s position as a director and member of said

committees, access to internal corporate documients, conversations and connections with other

corporate officers and employees, attendance at Board me_etings and com_rnitte_es thereof, and via
“reports and other information provided to him in connection therewith, he knew or should have
known that Apple executives, including defendants named herein, were receiving improperly _

backdated stock option grants which maximized their personal proﬁts at the expense of Apple

shareholders, and that the defendants concealed this practice in public filings during the Class

_Period.

b. Defendant Campbell signed the 2005 Form 10-K and solicited shareholders

through the 2006 Proxy Statement. |

21..  Defendant Millard S. Drexler (“Drexler”) is a thrector of Apple and has been since

1999. During the Fiscal Year 2005, which ran from September 25, 2004 to September 24, 2005,
and duringthe Fiscal Year 2006, which runs from September 25,2005 to September 24, 20086,

defendant Drexler was a member of both the Compensation Committee and the Corporate

Govemance Committee of the Company

a.- In light of defendant Drexler’s posmon as a director and’ member of said
committees aec.ess to internal corporate documents, conversatlons and connectlons with other
corporate ofﬁcers and employees attendance at Board meetmgs and committees thereof and via
reports and other 1nformat1on prov1ded {o him in connection therewith, he knew or should have |
known that Apple executives, including defendants named herein, were receiving improperly
backdated stock option grants which manimized their personal profits at the e)tpense of Apple

‘ . _ _ :
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shareholders, and that the defendants concealed this practice in pubhc filings durmg the Class
Penod | , | . _ | _
| b. Defendant Drexler signed the 2005 Form 10-K and solicited sharcholders

through the 2006, Proxy Statement. | ' R |

22, Collectively, defendants Jobs, Oppenheimer, Anderson, Campbell, Drexler, Gore,
Levinson and York are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”

23. Defend-ants C_ampbell_, Y_ork and Levinson are 'colle'cti_vely referred to herein as _the
“Audit Committee Directors.” l. | |

24.  Defendants Carnpbell, Drexler and Gore are collectively referred to herein as the
“Compensation ( Cdmnrittee Directors.” | ; | |

25.  Defendants Anderson and Jobs, together with non-partles Jonathan Rubenstein,

T1mothy Cook, Ronald B.J ohnson and Avidis Tevanian, who are and/or at relevant times herem

|| were all officers of Apple, are referred to herein as the “Backdated Optlon Recipients.”

_ CLASS ALLEGATIONS
26. Plamt1ffs brmg this action asa class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the
Federal ‘Rnles of Civil Proceduire on behalf of the Class, consrstmg of all those who purchased
and/or sold put options in the securities of Apple between December 1, 2005 and August 11, 2006- N
inclusive and who were damaged thereby ‘Excluded ﬁ'em the Class are defendants the efﬁcers and |
d1rectors of the Company, at all relevant trmes members of their 1mrned1ate families and their legal

representatives, heirs, SUCCESSOTS OF a551gns and any entuy in which defendants have or had a

.controlllng interest.

27.  The members of the Claes are so nulnerous that joinder of all members 18
impracticable. During the Class Period, Apple had more than 85_2-million shares of common stock
outstanding, which were actively traded on the NA_SDAQ, under the ticker symbol “AAPL,” and at
least tens of millions of shares of common stock were traded during the Class Period. While the
exact number of Class members is unknown to plaintiffs at tlns trme and can only be ascertained
through appropnate discovery. Plaintiffs believe that there are hundreds or thousands of members
in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members_of the Class may be identified from

10
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records maintained by Apple or its transfer agent and brokefage firms and may be hotiﬁed of the
pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that _customarﬂy usedin -
securities class actions. o _ _ | ' _ |

28.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the c_la.ims of the me_mbers of the_. Class as .all _
members of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongﬁ.ll conduct in violation of federal
law that is complained of herein. . | | |

29.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class l‘
and has retained counsel competent and eiperienced in class and securities litigation.

30. Common questions of law and.fact exist as to all members of the Class and |
predommate over any questlons solely affectmg individual members of the Class. Among the
questions of law and fact common to the Class are: | |

~a. whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as .
alleged herein; | ) |

b. - whether statements made by defen‘dant_s to the investing public dﬁring_fhe

Class. Period misrepfesented material facts about (i) how the Company 'awarded options to ifs |
executives, and (ii) whether the Company’s financial 2005 Form 10-K, certain interim financial
reports, including its Form 10-Q’s filed with the SEC during the Class Pe_riod,. Apple’s press
releases, and the 2006 Proxy Statement, contédned false arid misleading statements; and

. to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the
proper measure of damages ' |

31. A class action is superior to all other ava;llable methods for the fair and efﬁ01ent

adj udication of this controversy since Jomder of all members is nnpracucable. Furthermore, as the

|| damages suffered by 1nd1v1dua1 Class members may be relatwely small, the expense and burden of

1nd1v1dua1 litigation make it impossible. for members of the Class to md1v1dually redress the wrongs

done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action. -

11
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_ SUBSTAN TIVE ALLEGATIONS _
32. From the fiscal years 1997 to 2001 ‘the Compensatlon Comrmttee granted certain
Apple stock options to certain members of the board and executives of the Company, as set forth in
Exhibit A attached hereto. The grants were frequently datedjust after a sharp drop in the

Company’s stock price and before a substantial rise in the Company’s stock price. Exhibit B,

attached hereto, sets forth the ten (10) day prices for AppIe s common stock prior to and after the

purported date of grant
33, - This extraordinary pattern of stock option grants, as alleged herein and in Exhibits A

and B attached hereto, demonstrates that the purported grant dates were not the actual dates on

‘which the stock option grants were made. Rather, at the behest of the defendants, and/or the.

Cbinpensation Committee, defendants improperly backdated the stock option grants to make it

appear as though the grants were made on dates when the: market pnce of Apple s stock was lower

than the market price of the actual grant dates

34, This improper backdatmg V1olated the terms of, and rendered materially false and

'misleading, the Company’s shareholder-approved stock option plans. Pursuant to the terms of the

Company's shareholder-approved stock option plans, the exercise price of options must be no less
than the closing price of Apple stock on the date of grant so that the executives of the Company’s
interests are aligned with the shareholders. In contrast, the backdated options improperly increased

the value of the options granted to the Backdated Options Reeipients and gave them an immediate

|| paper profit which: (i) undermined the incentive purpose of such options; (if) improperly reduced

the amounts the recipients of the backdated options had to pay the Company upon exercise of the
options; and (iii) unfairly transferred shareholder equity to defendants.
A, Defendants’ Backdating of Options Also Rendered Apple’s
Financial Statements and Results to Be Materially False and
Mlsleadmg
35. - Defendants’ backdating scheme also re_ndere.d the_Conlp_any’s ﬁnancial statements
made in its 2005 Form 10-K, as well as interim financial statements and results for the 2005 and

2006 fiscal years, to be materially false and nuisleading;

12
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36.  Pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”),

| ‘_‘.Accounting for Stock Issued to Eriployees,” thé applicable Generally Accepted Aceounting'

Principles (“GAAP”) provision'at the time of the foregoing stock option grants if the market price
on the date of grant exceeds the exercise price of the opnons, the company must recogmze the

difference as an expense thereby reducmg the Company s net mcome Defendants’ backdatmg

- practice resulted in understated expenses on each Form 10-K because the difference between the

market price and option exercise price was not expensed _by the Company.

37 '. As a result of the improper'baekdating of stook- o_ptions,‘ the Company, with the -
knowl'edge, approval, and participation of each of the de‘fendants, violated GAAP, as acknowledged
by defendants in their press release dated August 11, 2006 and outlined supra. ' |

38, Moreover, during the Class Period, defendants repeatedly disseminated materially

| 'false and misleading press releases regarding the Company’s ﬁnancials. For example, on October

11, 2005, Apple issued a press release reporting its revenue and net profit for the ﬁscal yearended . |
September 24, 2005 and the fourth quarter then ended The release stated in part «_. for fiscal -
2005, the Company generated revenue of $13.93 billion and a net proﬁt of $ 1.335 billion, reﬂectmg

| an annual growth of 68% and 384 % respectlvely, and representmg the hlghest annual revenue and

net proﬁt n the Cornpany s h1st0ry _
39, The 2005 Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on December 1, 2005, and

contemporaneously dlstnbuted to the public, mcludmg Apple’s shareholders repeated these

| materially false and mlsleadmg statements regarding the Company s financial information. In

| particular, the revenue and net profit figures mssennnated in the October 11, 2005 press release

were repeated in the audited financial statements contained in 2005 Form 10-K report and also
contained comparatrve financial statements for the ﬁscal years ended 2005 and 2004, Indeed, the
2005 Form 10-K professes to be prepared in conformity with GAAP. Spec1ﬁcally, in Footnote 1-
Summary of Significant Accountlng Policies to the cornparatlve financial statements, the defendants

stated
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Stock-Based Compensation

. The Company currently measures compensation expense for its employee stock-
based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
The Company applies the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-
based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure as if the fair-value-based method
had been applied in measuring compensation expense. Under APB Opinion No. 25,
when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals the market -
price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant, no compensation expense is

recognized.

(Emphasis added).

40. The 2005 Foim 10-K Report, for the yearr ended September 24, 2005 was signed and
dated on November 29, 2005 by defendants Jobs, Oppenhe1mer Arnderson, Campbell Drexler
Gore Jr., Levmson and York.

41.  The 2005 Form 10K also conta.ms a list of documents mcludmg the “Apple |
Computer, Inc. 1998 Executive Officer Stock Plan (As Amended Through 6/27/00)” which defines

_the exer01se price of the options granted and follows:

9 OPTION EXERCISE PRICE AND CONSIDERATION

(a) EXERCISE PRICE. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued
pursuant to exercise of an Option shall be determined by the Administrator, subj ect
to the following: _

(i) In the case of an Ineentive Stock Option;

(A) granted to an Employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock
Opt1on is granted, owns stock representing more 'than ten percent (10%) of the voting
power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per .
Share exercise price shall be no less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share
on the date of grant; or :

(B) granted to any Employee other than an Employee descnbed in
paragraph (A) immediately above, the per Share exercise price shall be no less than
100% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date.of grant;

- (11) In the case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option, the per Share exercise pnce
* . shall be determined by the Administrator, In the case of a Nonstatutory Stock Optlon
intended to qualify as 'performance-based compensation’ within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Code, the per Share exercise price shall be no less than 100%

- of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant; (emphasis added)

/"
1

1
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(iif) Notwithstanding the foregomg, Optlons may be granted with a per Share
exercise price of less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of
grant as determined by the Admmlstrator or pursuant to a merger or other corporate
transaction.

Similar language appears in the Apple Computer, Inc. l990 Stock Option Plan (As Amended
Through 11/5/97), as follows:

8. Exerc1se Price and Consideration. (a) Exercise Price. The per Share exercise price
for the Shares issuable pursuant to an Option shall be such price as is determined by
the Administrator, but shall in no event be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value.
of Common Stock, determined as of the date of grant of the Option. In the event that
the Administrator shall reduce the exercise price, the exercise price shall be no less
than 100% of the Fair Market Value as of the date of that reduction. In no event shall
the per Share exercise price be less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share as
of the date of grant in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to an Optionee
who, immediately before the grant of such Option, owns Shares representing more
than 10% of the voting power or value.of all classes of stock of the Company or any
Parent or Subsidiary. (b) Method of Payment. The consideration to be paid for the
Shares to be issued upon exercise of an Option, including the method of payment,

* shall be determined by the Administrator (and, in the case of an Incentive Stock

" Option, shall be determined at the time of grant) and may consist of (i) cash, (ii)
check, (iii) promissory note, (iv) other Shares which have a Fair Market Value on the

_date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Shares as to which said
Option shall be exercised, (v) delivery of a properly executed exercise notice together
with irrevocable instructions to a broker to promptly deliver to the Company the
amount of sale or loan proceeds required to pay the exercise price, or (v1) any

. combination of the foregoing methods of payment and/or any other consideration or

?ﬁeichod of payment as shall be permitted under apphcable corporate law (Emphasis
' ed) _ '

| 42, | In addition, defendant Jobs, in his position as Chief Executive Officer, and defendant
Oppenhe1mer in his posmon as Senior Vice Pres'.ldent and Chief Financial Officer, submltted
certlﬁcauons to the SEC .as required pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted at Seetron 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Certification(s)’ ’).

43, Each Certification stated, among other things: “Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made in hght of the crrcumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading w1th respect to the period cover by th1s report

44.  The 2005 Form IO-K Report also contained Apple s matenally false and misleading
comparative ﬁnancml statements for the fiscal years ended September 2005 and September 2004,
which were not prepared in accordance with GAAP as a result of defendants’ violations of APB 25,

15

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
| WASTULLPPLE3\WLD\COMPLAINTfinal wpd




P

N TN+ - PR T~ N T - 7S T

T T T S G YURE N SO N SRS N S O GO o
® UV A G RO RN~, DS 0 ® NV R W N = O

as outlined supra. As a result of these violations, Apple"s net profit and stockholder equity were

overstated and compensationycost' attributable to the backdated options was correspondingly '

understated. In addition, the 2005 Form 10-K was materially false and misleading because it

concealed and/or omitted defendants’ backdating scheme and continued to fals‘ely assert that
employee stock options were and had been issued at fair market value at the date of grant when, as
descrlbed herein, they were not
- 45, On January 18, 2006, Apple announced ﬁnanmal results for its ﬁscal ﬁrst quarter

ended December 31, 2005, reporting the highest révenue and earnings in the Company’s history.
The Compan}?’s Press Release and Form 8-K filing stated: “Apple posted revenue of $5.75 billion
and net quarterly profit of $565 million... The Press Release vrent on to sltate': ' |

“We're very pleased to report year-over-year revenue ‘growth of 65 percent and net

1(r:1§%me that was nearly twice the year-ago level” said Peter Oppenhelmer Apple §

46.  Apple filed 1ts Form 10 -Q Report for its ﬁrst ﬁscal quarter ended December 31,

2005, w1th the SEC on February 3,2006. The Form 10-Q Report contained unaudited financial

|| statements and reported the same revenues and net income as reported i in the press release dated

January 18, 2006 Defendant Jobs and defendant Oppenheimer submitted Certifications attached to
the Form 10-Q Report, which each state, in relevant part: '

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report; :

Based on my knowledge the financial statements, and other financial information
- included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods
presented in tlus report. _ , _ :
47.  The Form 10- Q Report for the quarter ended December 31, 2005 contained Apple’s |

comparative fman01a1 statements for the fiscal first quarters of 2006 and 2005 which were

matenally false and misleading and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP due to the

1mproper accountmg for the backdated stock optron grants. See Exhlblts A and B, attached hereto.
Asa result, Apple’s net profits and stockholder equrty- were overstated and oompensatron cost -
attributalale to the backdated options was correspondingly understated. |
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'B.  Defendants Concealment of the Backdated of Stock Options
. Rendered Apple’s’ 2006 Proxy Statement Materially False and
Misleading - 7 ‘

48.  Defendants’ backdating scheme also rendered the 2006 Proxy Statement materially ,
false and nﬁsleading because defendants continued to conceal the Company’s illicit policy of
backdating optrons | |

49. The Apple 2006 Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2006, for the: meetmg to be held
Apnl 27, 2006 issued by each of the Individual Defendants, other than defendant Oppenheimer,

contained various disclosures pertaining to compensation paid to executives, mcludmg stock options

1l exercised and.held. This Proxy Statement was materially false and misleading because shareholders

were not informed of the Company’s practice of backdating _'options.

The Truth Is Disclosed

50. On J une 29, 2006, Apple dlsclosed that an internal mvestlgatlon drscovered
irregularities related to options granted between 1997 and 2001. '
51.  Apple reported in its Form 8-K report dated August 3, 2006 as follows:

On August 3, 2006, management of Apple Computer, Inc. (Apple) concluded, and
the Audit and Finance Committee of Apple’s Board of Directors approved the :
conclusion, that Apple’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended 2003, 2004
and 2005, the interim periods contained therein, the fiscal quarters ended December
31, 2005 and April 1, 2006, and all earnings and press releases and similar
commuinications issued by Apple relating to periods commencing on September 29, -
2002 should no longer be relied upon. Apple’s management and the Audit and
Finance Committee have discussed the matters disclosed in this filing with KPMG
LLP, Apple’s independent registered public accounting firm. (Emphasis added).

- 52. Apple also reported additional information related to its grants of options to the SEC
in the Form 12b-25 dated August 10, 2006, whereln the Company stated that it would not t1mely file
its Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the quarter ended July 1, 2006. The Form 12b-25 1ncluded
the following narratlve ‘

The Company antrclpates that there will be s1gmﬁcant changes in the results of
operations for the quarter ended July 1, 2006 compared to the quarter ended June 25,
2005, including significant increases in the Company’s revenue and expenses. The -
Company cannot provide a reasonable estimate of the results because it will likely
need to restate its historical financial statements to record non-cash charges for

compensation expense relatmg to past stock option grants. As the investigation
related to stock option grants is currently ongoing, the Company cannot at this time
reasonably estimate the amount of any such charges, the resulting tax and accountmg
impact, or whrch penods may require restatement. (Emphasis added). -
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53, On August 4, 2006, Apple shares declined 4.02%, from a close of $67.81 on August

3 to close at $64.96 on August 4, on news that Apple would “likely need” to restate earnings and

would delay filing its quarterly report because of additional irregularities related to its accouriting

for'.stock opt_ions granted to its executives and that its financial results iesued since September 29,
2002 could not be relied upon. | |

54, On August 11, 2006, Apple announced that its nnshandhng of its employee stock
opt_ions grants would require s1gmﬂ_eant revisions to_lts most recent quarterly results (for the
quarter' ending July 1, 2006) compared to the June 25 2005 quarter. On this news the Company’s
shares continued to drop to close at $63.65 on August 11, 2006. |

55,  Asaresult of all of the foregomg, plaintiffs and members of the Class have been

|| damaged.

APPLICABILITY OF THE FRAUD ON THE MARKET DOCTRINE
56. At all relevant times, the market for Apple’s common stock was an efficient market
for the following reasons, among others:
" a. Apple’s common stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and
actwely traded on the NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market;
_-b. - Asa regulated issuer, Apple filed penodlc publlc reports mth the SEC and
the NASDAQ;

. Apple regularly communicated with public investors via established market

[ communication mechanisms, including through regular disseminations of press releases on the

natio_nal circuits of major newswire services and through other w.ide—rangin_g public disclosures,
such as cornmunieat.i'ons. with the financial prese and other similar reporting services; and

d. Apple was followed by securities analysts, including those who were
employed by major brokerage firms, who wrote reports whlch were distributed to the sales force and
certain customers of their respective hrokerage firms. Each of these reports was publicly available
and entered the publlc marketplace.

_ -57. As aresult of the foregomg, the market for Apple s shares promptly dlgested current

: informatton regarding Apple from all publicly available sources and reflected such information in-
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Apble’s stock price. .Under these circutnstances;- all purchasers of Apple eecurities during the Class
Period suffered similar inju:ry thredg‘h tﬁeir purchase of Api)le’s common stoek' at artificially
1nﬂated prlces and a presumption of rehance applies
ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS
58. ' Certain members of Apple’s management mcludmg defendants sold matenal
amounts of a1t1ﬁc1a11y inflated Apple shares, while in the possesswn of materially adverse m51de
knowledge regarding backdating options scheme, as described herein. Many of these shares were

acquired by the exercise of stock options. The insider sales of Apple for Defendants Jobs,

‘Oppenheimer, Anderson, Levinson and York are set forth in detail, supra at paragraphs 14 through
18, | | |

59. * In addition, members of the Compensatmn Comnuttee during all or pa:rt of the Class

Period, Whlch included Individual Defendants Campbell Drexler and Gore (prev1ously defined

herein as the “Compensation Committee Directors”), were aware of, or but for their reckIess_

disregard should have been aware of, the backdating options scheme. The Charter of the
Compensation Committee of Apple states that the purpose of the Compensation Commitiee is, inter
alia, to “(i) establish and modify compensation and incentive plens and nrogl'ams (i) review and
approve compensation and awards under e_ompensation and incentive plans and .progl-éms for
elected officers of the Cdrporation, and (iii) be the administering committee for certain stock option
and other stock-based plans, as designated by the Board.’; The Co_mmittee is charged with
“Review[ing] neriodically and approv(ing] all compensation and incentive plans and programs.,.”
The Committee ie to “Act as administering committee of theCorporation’s-various bonus plans
stock plans and equity arrangements that may he adopted by the Corporatlon from time to time...

The Charter Vests the Committee with such authority and powers as annually reviewing and

- approving for the CEO and executive officers of the Company, the annual salary, bonuses, equity

compensation, incentive bonuses and any other benefits, compensation or arrangements. Therefore,
because of their intricate involvement in the formulation and issuance of such options, the

Compensation Committee Directors possessed the requisite scienter.
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60.  Those defendants who _were members of the Audit Committee, which included

Individual Defendants Campbell, York and Levinson (previously deﬂned herein as the “Audit |

|| Committee Directors™) for the Class Period, were responsible for mair_lfaining the adequacy of

internal control's,l and therefore, knew, or ata minimum recklessly .disrcgarded, the impermissible
option backdating scheme which internal cont_:rols_ .o'f the Company should have detected. The Audit
Committee 'Charter of Apple states that the Company has ’the primary purposes of “oversight and
monitoring of: (1) the Corporatlon s ﬁna.nc1al statements and other financial information provided by
the Corporation to its shareholders and others (11) comphance with legal and regulatory
requlrements; (111) the independent auditors, including their qualifications and independence; (lv)
the Corporarion’s systems of internal con_trols; including the Internal Audit function; and (v) the
auditing, accounting and financial reporting oroeess generally.” In sum, the Committee; has an
obligaﬁon to insure that it produces and publicly distributes financial 'statenrents which are
consistent, fairly presented and in confornlance with GAAP It is the duty of the Audit Committee

to oversee the Company’s accounting and financial reporting process, “review the adequacy of the

Corporation’s irlternal' controls and the procedures designed to ensure compliance with the

applicable laws and regulations.” and the auditing of the Company’s financial statements. In
addition, members of the Audit Committee whose duty it was to meet periodically with -
management to review the adequacy of the Companys internal controls, __did., or but for their reckless

disregard should have, detected and been aware of the illicit optiorl bsckdating scheme. Therefore,

{l the Audit Committee Directors possessed the. requisite scienter.

COUNT I I

FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
- AND RULE10b-5 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER

(Against All Defendants)

61.  Plaintiffs repeat and reéllege each and every allegation set forth above. During the

Class Period, defendants, and each of them, carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct that

‘was intended to and/or did: (i) deceive the 1nvest1ng pubhc mcludmg plarntlffs and other Class

_ members, as alleged hereln, (ii) artificially inflate the market pnce of Apple common stock and
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(iii) cause plaintiffs and other members of the Class to buy Apple stock at artiﬁ,cially inflated prices. :

In furtherance of this unlawﬂtl scheme, plan, and course of conduct, defendants, and each of them, .

took the actions set forth herein.
62. - These defendants (a) employed dev1ces, schemes and artifices to deﬁ'aud (b) made ‘

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state materlal facts necessary to make the

' statements not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices and a course of business which

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the buyers of Apple’s pubhcly traded securities in violation of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. '

63. Defendants maten_al mlsrepresentatlons and/or omissions were done knowingly or |
recklessly. | | - | | | -
64 As a result of the defendants dissemination of deceptlve and mrsleadmg information
regardmg the Apple’s practice of backdating options in v1olat10n of the Company s own mternal
pohcles and procedures and in contradiction to statement made in the Company S ﬁlmgs with the
SEC. Furthermore the backdatlng of options resulted in understatlng experses and thus overstating
net income in the Company’s financial _results contamed in Apple’s 2005 Form 10-K filed with the
SEC at the l‘)eginning of the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that the market price of Apple’s
shares were artiﬁciall_y inflated, and relying upon the integrity of the market in Wh_ich Apples

‘common stock trades, and/or on the absence of material information that was known to and/or

recklessly disregarded by defendants but not di_sclosed in 'publio statements by defendants during the
Class Period plaintiffs and the other members of the Class bought Apple common stock during the
Class Period at artlﬁClally 1nﬂated pnces and were damaged thereby '
_ 65. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions, plaintiffs and the other
members of the Class were ignorant of the omitted material facts and believed defendants’
statements regarding the awarding of options and thelr financial statements contained in Apple’s
2005 Form 10-K and certain ﬁsca1_2005 and 2006 interim financial reports to be completely
truthful, candid and not deceptive or misleading or su_ffering _ﬁom' omissions of material facts. Had
plaintiffs and the other members of the Class known of the omitted material facts, plaintiffs and the
_other.members_ of the Class would not have bought their Apple common st.oc_k_ durmg the Class.
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Period, or, if they had bought such stock during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the

artificially inflated prices which they paid for their Apple common stock which they bought during

‘the Class Penod

66. By virtue of the foregomg, each of the defendants wolated Section 10(b) of the '
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. '

67.  As adirect and proximate result of defendants' wrongful conduct, plaintiffs and the
other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of Apple common
stock during the Class Period. |

| __ COUNTD
FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION.14(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
| | (Ag'ainst All Defendants Except Defendant Oppenheimer) |
' 68. - Plaintiffs 1ncorporate by reference the above paragraphs except those paragraphs
relating to scienter, as if set forth fully herein.

69.  Rule 14a-9, promulgated pursuant to Sectron 14(a) of the Exchange Act provrdes that
no proxy statement shall contain “any statement which at the time and in hght of the circumstances
under which it is made is false and mlsleadmg with respect to any materral fact or which omits to
state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not false and nnsleadmg.

17 C.E.R. Section 240.142-9. | |

70.' The Proxy Statement for annual shareholders meeting held in 2006 vrolated Rule
14(a) and Rule 14a-9 because it omitted material facts, including the fact that defendants were
causing Apple to engage in an optrpn backdating scheme Whrch had occurred since at least 1997.

| 71. - Inthe exercise of reasonable care, defendants should have known that the 2006
Proxy. Statement was materially false and misleading. | | |

72.  The misrepresentations and omissions in the 2006 Proxy Statement were material tol‘ |
plaintiffs in voting on the Proxy Statenrent. The 2006 Proxy- Statement was an essential lir)k in the
accor_nphshment and continuation of defendants’ unlawful stock option backdating' scheme, as
revelations of the truth would have immediately thwarted a 'continuation of shareholders’

¢
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endorsement of the directors’ position, the 'exec_utive officers’ compensation and the Company’s
compensatron pOhCIeS _ | | |

73. Pla.mtrffs and the Class were damaged as aresult of the material misrepresentations
and omissions in the 2006 Proxy Statement. | |
| COUNTIII

-~ AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO
: SECTION 20(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

74. - Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and everyrallegation set forth abor/e. _
| 75. . This claun is asserted against the Individual Defendants pursuant to Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act, 15U.S. c §781(a). ' _ ,

_ - 76, During the Class Period, Individual Defendants J 0bs, Oppenheimer, Anderson,
Campbell, Drexler Gore, Levinson and York were controllmg persons” of defendant Apple w1thln
the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. | o

77.  The Individual Defendant_s were “controlling persons” of Apple because, due to the
officer and/or director positiorls they held with Apple, they had.the inﬂuenc‘e and power. ever_Apple
to cause, and they did cause, Apple to engage in the wrongful conduct corrlplained of herein, and '
because they had the.power to have prevented Apple from engaging in the unlawful conduct. alleged
herein, but they purposely, intentionally and recklessly did not use that power to do so. |
| 78.  Asset forth above in Count [, Apple violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by its acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By

_virtue of their status as a “controlling person” of Apple, the Individual Defendants are liable, to the

same extent as is Apple for its vrolatlons of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

| promulgated thereunder pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

- 79. As set forth in Count II, .Apples also violated Section 14(a) of the Exchémge Act by

its acts and omissions. By virtue of their status as a “controlling person” of Apple, the Individual -

Defendants are liable, to the same exten_t as is Apple for its violations of Section 14(a) of the

Bxchange Act, pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. -
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plalntlffs on behalf of themselves and the Class, pray for Judgment as

follows

1.

Declarlng this action to be a class action properly mamtamed pursuant to Rule 23 @ |

and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of C1v11 Procedure, _

Finding that the defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule

10b-5 promulgated thereunder and Sections 20(a) and 14(a) by their acts and

~ omissions as alleged in this C_omplaint;'

Awarding plaintiffs and the members of the Class.:damages, together with interest
the_reon’; |
Awarding plaintiffs and other members of the Class their costs and expenses of this -

litigation, including reasonable attorneys fees and experts fees and other costs and

_drsbursements and

- Awarding plaintiffs and other members of the Class such other and further relief as

may be just and proper under the circumstances

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury as to all issues so triable.

Dated: August 24, 2006
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